- JALS - JOHE - Dod 1 / 2015

Case No. 73504-7-I

COURT OF APPEALS, DIVISION I OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

EVERETT HANGAR, LLC, a Washington limited liability company, Plaintiff-Respondent,

v.

KILO 6 OWNERS ASSOCIATION, a Washington nonprofit corporation; KILO SIX, LLC, a Washington limited liability company; HISTORIC HANGARS, LLC, a Washington limited liability company; HISTORIC FLIGHT FOUNDATION, a Washington nonprofit corporation; and JOHN SESSIONS, an individual

Defendants-Appellants.

BRIEF OF APPELLANTS

HILLIS CLARK MARTIN & PETERSON P.S. Louis D. Peterson, WSBA #5776 Jake Ewart, WSBA #38655 1221 Second Avenue, Suite 500 Seattle, WA 98101-2925 Telephone: (206) 623-1745

I. INTRODUCTION

Defendant-Appellant Historic Flight Foundation (the "*Museum*") operates a public vintage aircraft museum at the Snohomish County Airport ("*Paine Field*"). The Museum was developed in cooperation with Paine Field, and its operations are expressly permitted by its lease with Paine Field, CC&Rs governing the property, and the Snohomish County Code. For more than six years, with Paine Field's involvement and support, the Museum has hosted events inside its hangar and outside on its ramp, including at least two annual air shows sponsored by Paine Field.

The Museum's neighbor, Plaintiff-Respondent *Everett Hangar*, LLC, has an easement over the Museum's property that permits Everett Hangar to cross part of the Museum's property only in limited circumstances—when "reasonably necessary." The trial court has unreasonably interpreted that easement to dramatically expand its scope, and essentially prohibit the Museum from using its own leased ramp at any time for its own activities. The trial court's interpretation conflicts with the easement language itself, the CC&Rs, the Museum's lease, the parties' conduct over the last six years, the Snohomish County Code, and common sense.

The easement at issue permits the parties to move across their neighbors' properties only "as is reasonably necessary to move aircraft" to and from the nearest taxiway. Everett Hangar's two corporate jets have two exits to the nearest taxiway, including one that does not cross Museum

¹ The Snohomish County Code, Title 15, contains the airport rules for Paine Field. Title 15 of the Code was admitted into evidence as trial exhibit 232.

property. Those jets depart fewer than 1.4 times per week, rarely need the exit nearest the Museum, and have never, in more than six years at Paine Field, missed a flight. Nevertheless, Everett Hangar claims the Museum has interfered with Everett Hangar's easement rights by displaying vintage aircraft on the Museum's ramp, and hosting periodic events.

After a bench trial, the Snohomish County Superior Court ruled for Everett Hangar. The trial court held that the easement, which exists only "as is reasonably necessary to move aircraft" to the taxiway, requires that the Museum's property remain unused at all times in case Everett Hangar wants to fly. The court entered findings of fact based in part on exhibits that were neither offered nor admitted. And the court entered an injunction that, for all practical purposes, gave Everett Hangar control over the Museum's exterior ramp 24 hours a day, 7 days a week.

The trial court seriously misinterpreted Everett Hangar's easement rights, and expanded them far beyond what the text of the easement permits—an easement only "as is *reasonably necessary*." The court also acknowledged yet declined to enforce CC&R provisions requiring cooperation among neighbors, and went so far as to endorse Everett Hangar's blanket refusal to share flight information with the Museum—information that could be used to avoid potential conflicts.

The court turned Everett Hangar's right to an easement "as is reasonably necessary" on its head. Under the court's injunction, the Museum can now almost never use *its own leased property*, and Everett Hangar now

has a presumptive right to use the Museum's ramp any time it desires. The court had no legal basis to enter the injunction.

The court's injunction also directed the Museum and other Defendants to take certain safety and security measures not required by the CC&Rs. The injunction ignored CC&R provisions and ordered action neither required nor approved by Paine Field, the entity ultimately responsible for safety and security at the airport.² Paine Field—the Museum's landlord—has never complained about the Museum's activities. On the contrary, Paine Field has supported them. There are 500 planes and three other museums at Paine Field. No one else is subject to the restrictions imposed by the trial court on the Museum. The trial court erred as a matter of law in entering injunctive relief, and in doing so improperly rewrote the CC&Rs.

The court also erred in awarding Everett Hangar attorneys' fees and costs as a prevailing party, and in calculating the attorneys' fee award to Everett Hangar. Even though Defendants prevailed on all damages claims and half of the claims for injunctive relief, the trial court improperly determined Everett Hangar was the prevailing party. The *Cornish College* case requires the trial court to engage in a party-by-party and claim-by-claim analysis in determining attorneys' fees. The trial court acknowledged the requirements of *Cornish College*, then refused to apply them, conceding on the record that, if she was "wrong about that," this Court would "let [her] know that, as [it is] quick to do."

² Paine Field is not subject to Transportation Security Administration (TSA) security regulations.

This Court should reverse the trial court's rulings against Defendants and remand this case with orders to (1) dismiss all of Everett Hangar's claims with prejudice, and (2) award Defendants their attorneys' fees and costs.

II. ASSIGNMENTS OF ERROR

- 1. The court erred as a matter of law in finding for Everett Hangar on Counts I-III of its amended complaint, all of which alleged violations of the CC&Rs. (Count I relates to Everett Hangar's easement rights. Count II relates principally to Everett Hangar's safety and security concerns. Count III alleges that the Owner's Association created by the CC&Rs failed to meet its obligations under the CC&Rs.)
 - 2. The court erred as a matter of law in entering injunctive relief.
- 3. The court erred as a matter of law in fashioning injunctive relief that is overly broad and unsupported by the record.
- 4. The court erred as a matter of law in awarding attorneys' fees and costs to Everett Hangar.
- 5. The court erred as a matter of law in calculating the attorneys' fee award to Everett hangar.
- 6. The court erred as a matter of law in dismissing all claims against Defendant-Appellant John Sessions *without* prejudice, rather than *with* prejudice, after a full bench trial on the merits.
- 7. The court erred as a matter of law in making findings of fact 25, 28, 45, 46, 47, 48, 52, 55, and 56.³

³ This Court should reverse the trial court even if it accepts all of the trial court's findings of fact. These findings of fact are, nevertheless, unsupported by evidence, and the trial court erred in making them.

8. The court erred as a matter of law in not admitting into evidence documents showing the Museum's current policies and procedures, including training materials (proffered exhibits 264-68, 270).

III. ISSUES RELATING TO ASSIGNMENTS OF ERROR

- 1. Did the court misinterpret and misapply the CC&Rs in holding that Defendants violated obligations under the CC&Rs?
- 2. Did the court err in ordering injunctive relief where Everett Hangar proved no well-grounded fear of an immediate invasion of a clear legal or equitable right?
- 3. Did the court err as a matter of law in fashioning injunctive relief that is not narrowly tailored to address the alleged harms, and that is unsupported by the record?
- 4. Did the court err as a matter of law in determining Everett Hangar was the prevailing party for purposes of making an award of attorneys' fees and costs?
- 5. Did the court err as a matter of law in assessing Everett Hangar's attorney fee request by failing to apply the proportionality approach required by this Court's decisions, and by failing to deduct fees not reasonably incurred?
- 6. Did the court err as a matter of law in failing to dismiss all claims against John Sessions *with prejudice*?
 - 7. Did the court make factual findings unsupported by evidence?
- 8. Did the court err in refusing to admit into evidence documents established by Museum testimony to be its current policies and procedures?

IV. STATEMENT OF THE CASE

A. The Property

The property at issue (the "*Property*") consists of three neighboring lots in the southwest corner of Paine Field. CP 453. The lots are referred to as Lots 11, 12, and 13 in relevant documents, and were described that way during the trial. *Id.* The lots run west to east: Lot 11 is west of Lot 12, and Lot 12 is west of Lot 13. *Id.* Trial Exhibit 271, included as **APPENDIX 1**, is a photograph showing an aerial view of the Property. On that photograph, the Museum hangar is the white-roofed building in the lower left hand corner just south of the "Lot 11 Ramp." The Museum sits on Lot 11, which is 188 feet wide. *E.g.*, Ex. 11 (attached as **APPENDIX 2**) at Ex. D at 2. ⁴ Everett Hangar is the larger white-roofed building to the east of the Museum, and sits on Lot 12, which is 322 feet wide. *E.g.*, *id.* at Ex. D at 2. The unmarked lot east of Everett Hangar is Lot 13. No structures are built on Lot 13. CP 453.

The northern portions of Lots 11 and 12 are paved areas called "ramps" or "aprons" that are marked on APPENDIX 1. Both hangars open onto those ramps. A grassy drainage area is situated between the Lot 12 ramp and the Kilo 7 taxiway that runs west to east just north of Lots 12 and 13. Planes leaving Everett Hangar have two exits around that drainage area to the Kilo 7 taxiway—one exit to the east, across Everett Hangar's own ramp, and one to the west next to the Museum's ramp. Additional ramp space owned by Paine Field sits north of the Lot 11 ramp and on the west end of the Kilo 7 taxiway, as marked on APPENDIX 1.

⁴ All "Ex." citations are to trial exhibits unless otherwise indicated. The CC&Rs governing the Property were trial exhibit 11, and are also included with this brief as APPENDIX 2. All citations to the CC&Rs are to APPENDIX 2 unless otherwise indicated.

B. The Museum

The Museum is a tax-exempt, 501(c)(3) educational foundation. CP 460; RP 785.⁵ The Museum has a collection of vintage aircraft from 1927-1957. RP 736-37. Every plane in the Museum's collection is fully operational and still flies. RP 740. The collection ranges from historic biplanes to World War II aircraft such as the B-25D Mitchell Bomber and the P-51B Mustang. RP 738, 744. The Museum displays its collection both inside its hangar and, on occasion, outside the hangar on the Museum's ramp and the Paine Field ramp.⁶ CP 460. The Museum is open from 10:00 a.m. to 5:00 p.m., Tuesday through Sunday, and at other times for special events. *Id*.

The Museum was founded and developed by Defendant-Appellant John Sessions, with support from Paine Field. In 2007, Paine Field leased the entire Property (which now consists of Lots 11-13) to Appellant Kilo Six, LLC for use as the "John T. Sessions Historic Aircraft Foundation," and for the "public display of aircraft, public education, and public meeting uses." Ex. 1 § 1.02. In 2009, Paine Field divided the Property into three separately leased parcels—Lots 11, 12, and 13. CP 454. Paine Field leased Lot 11 for, among other things, a "historic aircraft hangar and museum, public education, and event venue." Ex. 5 § 1.02(a). Those are the purposes for which Lot 11 is now used.

⁵ Unless otherwise indicated, all citations to the report of proceedings are to the bench trial report of proceedings consecutively paginated from February 10-19, 2015.

⁶ The court's finding of fact number 46, which finds that, "[e]ven on days when public events are not hosted," the Museum "frequently parks its vintage aircraft within the . . . object free area zones on its Lot 11 ramp" is not supported by evidence in the record. CP 464-65. The Museum uses its ramp, but no evidence shows the Museum frequently parks it planes in what was described at trial as the object free area.

In addition to displaying its vintage aircraft, the Museum hosts a range of educational, charitable, and civic activities, many of which require use of the Museum's ramp. For example, the Museum hosts annual events such as Challenge Air, which offers children and young adults with disabilities their first flying experiences. RP 878-80. The Museum also hosts significant air shows, such as Paine Field Aviation Day and Vintage Aircraft Weekend. Many events, including Aviation Day and Vintage Aircraft Weekend, are sponsored each year by Paine Field, which contributes money, services, fencing, and other support, including security planning. *E.g.*, CP 476; RP 242-44, 248, 765-70, 845, 878-80. Only a handful of these larger events occur each year, and they all occur during the summer flying season. Exs. 205, 274, 275. The Museum also promotes STEM education for students, RP 753, CP 460, and annually flies its planes over Memorial Day services around the state, CP 460.

Aviation Day and Vintage Aircraft Weekend attract thousands of guests each year. RP 775. For a typical event of that size, the Museum has displays on its exterior ramp and, with Paine Field's permission, adjacent Paine Field property. CP 461. With the permission of Kilo Six and Paine Field, the Museum also uses the empty Lot 13 for parking. *Id.* With Paine Field's approval, the Museum erects bicycle fencing, owned and provided by Paine Field, around Lots 11 and 13 (and any Paine Field property being used) to separate Museum guests from adjacent lots and the rest of the airport. CP 461, 476; RP 767, 845-46.

The Museum also uses at least 100 trained volunteers, plus paid employees, to monitor the events. RP 841-44. Volunteers serve, for example, as perimeter security and parking attendants, and they include docents with safety training and background in the history of the planes involved in Museum events. RP 844, 851-53. All volunteers receive training at the Museum. *Id.* Even on regular business days at the Museum, Museum rules require that a volunteer docent accompany all Museum patrons to displays outside the hangar on the Museum's ramp. *See* Ex. 269 at III.⁷ If no docents are available, Museum guests are limited to exhibits inside the Museum hangar. *See id.*

Museum events are posted each year on the Museum's website. Exs. 205, 274, 275; RP 256. All major events are scheduled months in advance. *See id.* Many major events, such as Aviation Day and Vintage Aircraft Weekend, have been held on the same weekend each year for several years. *See id.* Over the years, the Museum has made a point of reaching out to Everett Hangar, usually by email, in advance of major events to ensure that Museum activities will not conflict with Everett Hangar activities. Exs. 202-204, 206-214. In responding to those emails,

⁷ The trial court erred in refusing to admit into evidence the Museum's current written policies and procedures, including training materials. RP 848-58; proffered exhibits 264-68, 270 (attached as APPENDICES 4-9). Everett Hangar objected on the basis that the documents were hearsay, but the founder and president of the Museum, John Sessions, testified that the documents represented the Museum's current policies and training materials. RP 848-58. The documents were authenticated by the Museum president as statements made by the Museum, which (through its president) was testifying in the courtroom and subject to cross-examination. The documents were not hearsay, and the court should have admitted them. ER 801. Among other things, they state very clearly that Museum guests are not permitted to access the ramp unless escorted by a Museum docent. *E.g.*, APP. 6 (proffered exhibit 266 (DEF0001033)).

Everett Hangar never identified any potential conflict with scheduled Museum events. *See id.*

C. Everett Hangar

Everett Hangar owns the lease to Lot 12 and the hangar on Lot 12. CP 453. Dean Weidner is the sole manager and member of Everett Hangar LLC. Ex. 2 at 6. He also owns the two corporate jets—a Gulfstream IV and a Learjet 60—that have operated out of Everett Hangar since August 2008. CP 457-58.

Everett Hangar's jets are reserved solely for Mr. Weidner's business and personal use. *Id.* Weidner owns and operates approximately 42,000 apartments in nine states and four provinces. CP 454; RP 57. Weidner employees use Weidner's jets for business travel to those locations. CP 454.

Each year, the Learjet and the Gulfstream make 20-40 flights each from Everett Hangar. Exs. 216-231; *see also* CP 458. Through 2014, the two jets never combined for more than 72 total flights from Everett Hangar in any year.

8 Id. Thus, even during its busiest years, Everett Hangar has averaged fewer than 1.4 departures per week. Because each plane requires 30-45 minutes of preflight preparations, Everett Hangar requires approximately one hour per week on its ramp before departures. CP 458.

⁸ In the trial court's findings of fact, the court, reviewing Everett Hangar's flight logs, listed its count of flights each year through 2013. CP 458. The court's calculations count a departure as one flight, and an arrival as a second flight. In other words, one round trip flight would count as two flights in the court's calculations. Everett Hangar's two jets combined to make 72 departures in both 2013 and 2014. This is consistent with the court's calculations, which counted 144 total flights (72 multiplied by 2) in 2013. *Id.*

The vast majority of Everett Hangar's flights—90 to 95%—depart around 7:30 a.m. (before the Museum opens) and return between 7:00 p.m. and 11:00 p.m. (after the Museum closes). RP 261. Everett Hangar uses its east exit to Kilo 7 for two-thirds of its departures and 90% of its arrivals. RP 305. Use of the west exit is necessary only when the wind blows from the west at 15 knots or higher—something that occurs at Paine Field *fewer than four days every ten years*. CP 463; RP 623-24, 1035-36; Ex. 283.

Everett Hangar usually positions its plane on its own ramp for departure with the nose facing east and the plane parallel to its own hangar. After finishing preflight activities, it taxis out the east exit (away from the Museum) and turns east onto the Kilo 7 taxiway. A typical departure out the east exit with airplanes on the Museum's Lot 11 ramp is depicted in Ex. 215A. RP 279-83, 300. Accordingly, the trial court's finding of fact number 25, finding that there is "no place for [Everett Hangar] to direct jet blast that isn't potentially harmful," is not supported by the evidence. CP 459. According to Greg Valdez, Everett Hangar's Chief Pilot and Director of Flight Operations, and Norm McCord, Everett Hangar's Director of Maintenance and Chief Mechanic, these operations have been performed safely for over six years—as long as Everett Hangar has been at Paine Field—and have never resulted in injury or damage to anyone or anything. RP 117, 305-06, 308-09, 393, 403-04; CP 458.

Everett Hangar's flights are scheduled well in advance. Thirty to forty percent of Everett Hangar's flights are scheduled the year before. RP 155, 396-97, 402. A yearly schedule is circulated in November or December for

the next year's flights. *Id.* Additional flights are then added over the course of the year. *Id.* Changes to work flights are typically made a couple weeks in advance of the flight. *Id.* Personal flights are typically scheduled with a month's advance notice, and have never been scheduled with less than a week's notice. *Id.* No flight is scheduled with less than two days' notice. *Id.*

D. The Other Parties

Everett Hangar sued four Defendants in addition to the Museum. Defendant-Appellant Kilo Six, LLC is the entity originally formed to develop the Property. CP 454; Ex. 1. Paine Field initially leased the Property to Kilo Six in 2007, and continued to lease the Property to Kilo Six in 2009 when it divided the Property into three lots. *Id.* The lease for Lot 13 remains with Kilo Six. CP 454. The lease for Lot 12 was assigned by Kilo Six to Everett Hangar. CP 455. The lease for Lot 11 was assigned by Kilo Six to Defendant-Appellant Historic Hangars, LLC, which then subleased Lot 11 to the Museum. CP 454. Defendant-Appellant John Sessions is President of the Museum, Managing Member and sole member of Historic Hangars, and Managing Member and sole member of Kilo Six. CP 453.

The fifth and final Defendant-Appellant, Kilo 6 Owners

Association, is a nonprofit corporation that has, as its members, the owners of the leases on Lots 11, 12, & 13 (Historic Hangars, Everett Hangar, and Kilo Six). CP 453. John Sessions is President of the Association. *Id.* The Association has certain rights and responsibilities under the CC&Rs and its bylaws. Exs. 3, 11. The operative CC&Rs, included as **APPENDIX 2**, were

recorded by the Declarant, Kilo Six, after the property was trifurcated into Lots 11-13.

E. Everett Hangar's Claims

Everett Hangar alleged breaches of the CC&Rs and Association bylaws by various Defendants, and a breach of fiduciary duty by John Sessions. PCP 569-82. Everett Hangar sought damages and injunctive relief. CP 569-82; 1028-39.

Everett Hangar's allegations can be divided into two general categories: (1) operational concerns and (2) safety and security concerns.

1. Alleged Operational Concerns

Everett Hangar's allegations focused largely on one provision of the CC&Rs that grants lot owners an easement (the "*Easement*") over adjacent lots "as is reasonably necessary" in order to move aircraft to and from the owners' lots. Section 12.7 of the CC&Rs provides:

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