NO. 73504-7-I

IN THE COURT OF APPEALS OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON DIVISION I

EVERETT HANGAR, LLC, a Washington limited liability company,

Plaintiff-Respondent,

v.

KILO 6 OWNERS ASSOCIATION, a Washington nonprofit corporation; KILO SIX, LLC, a Washington limited liability company; HISTORIC HANGARS, LLC, a Washington limited liability company; HISTORIC FLIGHT FOUNDATION, a Washington nonprofit corporation, and JOHN SESSIONS, an individual,

Defendants-Appellants.

RESPONDENT'S ANSWERING BRIEF

Warren J. Rheaume, WSBA #13627 John A. Goldmark, WSBA #40980 Tom Wyrwich, WSBA #45719 DAVIS WRIGHT TREMAINE LLP 1201 Third Avenue, Suite 2200 Seattle, WA 98101

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

Ultimately, the trial court agreed with Everett Hangar's straightforward case that parties who contract for an easement at an airport would reasonably prioritize access to the taxiway using accepted and best aviation practices. This Court should affirm that ruling, not only because it is supported by substantial evidence, but also because it is the only reading and application of the easement that makes objective sense.

3. Substantial Evidence Supports the Trial Court's Finding that Defendants Breached the Easement.

Considerable evidence also supports the trial court's findings that Defendants violated, and continue violating, the easement in the CC&Rs. "If the dominant estate has established use of an easement right of way, obstruction of that use clearly interferes with the proper enjoyment of the easement." *Cole v. Laverty*, 112 Wn. App. 180, 185, 49 P.3d 924 (2002).

The trial court heard substantial evidence showing Defendants routinely block the easement by: (1) displaying aircraft on the Lot 11 ramp, CP 464 ¶ 46, RP 145, 168-71, 186, 200-10; Exs. 69-70, 75; (2) parking a large 100-foot wingspan DC-3 aircraft on the Lot 11 ramp for most of "the last two years," CP 459 ¶ 25; RP 183-85, 367-68, 409, 934; Ex. 86; (3) placing tents, antique vehicles, temporary fencing, portable toilets, and vendor booths on the ramp for several days, CP 461 ¶ 29; CP 464 ¶ 45; RP 187-90, 203, 489-90; Exs. 40-42, 55-56, 63-64, 66-67, 79, 84; and (4) on one occasion, intentionally moving two planes directly behind Everett Hangar's aircraft while it was preparing to depart, forcing it to reposition and direct jet blast at its own hangar, CP 465 ¶ 48; RP 236-

39; Ex. 86. The credible evidence, including testimony by Everett Hangar's chief pilot, chief mechanic, and aviation expert, showed these activities obstruct Everett Hangar's ability to safely access the easement.

Defendants do not dispute their activities routinely block Everett Hangar's access across the Lot 11 ramp. Nor could they, as the evidence and unchallenged findings establish these facts. Instead, they argue no breach occurred because "Everett Hangar has *never*, on any occasion, been unable to fly as scheduled because of Museum activities," other than a dozen flight delays. Br. 31. In other words, Defendants think they violate the easement only if they bar Everett Hangar from flying altogether. But the court's factual findings on the intended easement scope, best aviation practices, and trial testimony, render their position a nullity.

Moreover, the law does not require Everett Hangar to suffer such severe harm before its rights have been violated. It only requires that Defendants "obstruct[]" Everett Hangar's "proper enjoyment" of the easement, which routinely occurs. *Cole*, 112 Wn. App. at 185; *see Littlefair v. Schulze*, 169 Wn. App. 659, 662-63, 278 P.3d 218 (2012) (holding plaintiff is entitled to "full easement rights" to access county road and need not show that, on any particular occasion, he could not have left or entered his property at all). No matter how the Court views the easement—even under Defendants' contorted reading—Defendants have interfered with Everett Hangar's full enjoyment of its rights. They parked their 100-foot-wide DC-3 on the Lot 11 ramp, directly in the jet blast zone

needed to access the easement, for the majority of the "last two years." RP 368, 409, 934. During all those "occasions" they obstructed Everett Hangar's ability to use its easement.

Substantial evidence shows Defendants obstructed Everett
Hangar's ability to access the taxiway using best practices. The trial court
correctly found Everett Hangar did not have to prove that it had to cancel a
flight to find breach. Its detailed factual findings amply support its ruling.

- B. The Trial Court Correctly Found that Defendants Breached the Safety and Security Provisions.
 - 1. The CC&Rs Prohibit Defendants from Creating Unreasonable Safety and Security Threats.

Defendants continue the dangerous position they took at trial, arguing they have *no obligation* to refrain from endangering the safety and security of their neighbor lot owner, Everett Hangar. Br. 35-39. The governing documents and evidence at trial, however, show otherwise.

The governing documents emphasize the importance of safety and security on the lots, which sit adjacent to an active taxiway and close to the runway and other airport facilities (including the Boeing plant). This begins with the CC&R Rules, which declare: "Because of the nature of the anticipated use of the Property as an aircraft hangar facility for working aircraft, *safety and security are of particular concern*." Ex. 11 at Ex. C § 5 (emphasis added). To that end, the Rules prohibit "Any activity which ... threaten[s] the safety of the occupants and invitees of other Lots." *Id.* § 2(i). The lot leases, incorporated into the CC&Rs, also stress the critical nature of safety and security at the airport. Those leases declare that each

lessee: (1) "recognizes *its obligations* to comply with Federal Airport and Snohomish County Security Regulations"; and (2) "*shall be responsible* for ensuring that identification required and provided by the Airport is required by all . . . employees and invitees needing access to a restricted area." Exs. 5-7 § 8.07 (emphasis added). The county code and airport security rules, in turn, prohibit unescorted entry into restricted areas, CP 475 ¶ 17; Ex. 232, and declare "TENANTS MUST ESCORT THEIR GUESTS <u>AT ALL TIMES</u> WITHOUT EXCEPTION," Ex. 101 at 10. These requirements are all mandatory. Nothing suggests Defendants can just ignore them—as the evidence showed they routinely did.

Despite the obligations imposed by the CC&Rs and its emphasis that "safety and security are of particular concern," Defendants insist they can act with impunity. Defendants contend they are free to threaten the safety and security of Everett Hangar's flight crew and aircraft (as well as the airport). They make two arguments to support this position. Both fail.

First, Defendants argue § 4.5 of the CC&Rs divests them of any duty to avoid threatening the safety and security of other owners and property. Br. 35-36. But the plain language of § 4.5 refutes their claim. The first sentence says "[t]he Association" (and only the Association) has no affirmative duty to "enhance the safety of the Property." The next part says "neither the Association, [nor] Declarant" are "guarantors of security or safety" or make any such warranty, and neither can be held liable for damages for failing to "provide adequate security." The last part simply

says the owners must inform their tenants of the liability waiver for the Declarant and Association. Ex. 11 § 4.5.

Nothing in § 4.5 impacts the safety and security claims on which Everett Hangar prevailed at trial. To begin with, § 4.5 only limits liability of the Association and Declarant (not lot owners). Nothing relieves *lot owners* from their separate and specific safety and security duties under the CC&Rs. Nor does it override the CC&Rs specific requirement that: "Every Owner and occupant of any Lot *shall comply* with the Governing documents and other covenants applicable to its Lot. Failure to comply shall be grounds for an action ... by any aggrieved Lot Owner(s) ... for damages or *injunctive relief*" Ex. 11 § 13.6 (emphasis added). Everett Hangar prevailed on its security claims against Historic Hangar, the Foundation, and Kilo Six based on their conduct as the owners of Lots 11 and 13.¹⁹ Section 4.5 has no bearing on these claims.

Further, Everett Hangar's successful claim against the Association did not turn on an alleged failure to *enhance* security, the subject of the § 4.5 waiver. Instead, the trial court found that the owners of Lots 11 and 13, with the Association's help, actively *weakened* and *breached* the existing perimeter security. CP 475-78. The evidence also showed that the Association (controlled by Sessions) allowed repeated security

¹⁹ Kilo Six, in addition to being the Lot 13 owner, is also the Declarant because it developed the property and organized the lots. But Everett Hangar sued Kilo Six for its conduct *as owner of Lot 13*—for routinely breaching the Lot 13 perimeter security.

²⁰ Everett Hangar did not prevail on its claim against the Association seeking security enhancements (Count IV), which arose under the Bylaws, *not* the CC&Rs. CP 480 ¶ 37.

breaches and "failed to enforce the CC&Rs" against the owners of Lots 11 and 13 (also controlled by Sessions), CP 478, violating its duty as "the primary entity responsible for enforcement of [the CC&Rs]." Ex. 11 § 3.1.²¹ And § 4.5 does nothing to limit an owner's right to injunctive relief against the Association, the sole relief Everett Hangar sought and obtained at trial. Section 4.5 cannot be read to absolve the Association of its affirmative duties, nor allow it to do what the lot owners cannot.

Defendants' position rests on an overbroad, unreasonable, and dangerous misreading of § 4.5, contrary to the specific obligations imposed by the CC&Rs and their entire purpose—to "encumber and govern the uses of the lots." Exs. 5-7 at 2 (Recital E). If § 4.5 insulated all parties for dangerous conduct, it would render the specific safety and security obligations imposed by the CC&Rs and incorporated lot leases entirely meaningless. Because "[a]n interpretation of a contract that gives effect to all provisions is favored over an interpretation that renders a provision ineffective," *Snohomish Cnty. Pub. Transp. Benefit Area Corp.* v. FirstGroup Am., Inc., 173 Wn.2d 829, 840, 271 P.3d 850 (2012), this Court should reject the Defendants' untenable reading of § 4.5.

Second, Defendants assert the trial court erred by citing the CC&R provision prohibiting "Noxious Activities," arguing it does not cover activities that threaten safety. Br. 37-38. But the provision expressly bars

 $^{^{21}}$ The trial court's finding that the owners of Lots 11 and 13 acted unreasonably and in violation of their leases obviates any argument that the Association "reasonably determine[d]" it should not take enforcement action under the CC&Rs. Ex. 11 \S 4.2

"Jalny activity which... threaten[s] the safety of the occupants and invitees of other Lots." Ex. 11 at Ex. C § 3(i) (emphasis added). Nonetheless, invoking one interpretive tool, Defendants claim the safety reference only "relates to a narrow category of physical conditions comparable to pollution or fire." Br. 37. This tool, however, applies "only to the extent that the general terms suggest items similar to those designated by the specific terms." Lombardo v. Pierson, 121 Wn.2d 577, 583 n.4, 852 P.2d 308 (1993). That is not the case here. The section bars "noxious activities" of different types, ranging from those "which emit[] foul or obnoxious odors" (health hazards), to those "which tend to disturb the peace or threaten the safety of the occupants" (safety threats). Ex. 11 at Ex. C § 3(i). It prohibits both types of activities, consistent with the CC&Rs emphasis that "safety and security are of particular concern." Id. § 5; Kitsap Cnty. v. Allstate Ins. Co., 136 Wn.2d 567, 590-91, 964 P.2d 1173 (1998) (refusing to apply rule Defendants invoke, and finding no evidence parties intended general term to have a "limited meaning").

In any event, Defendants argument about the "noxious activities" provision is irrelevant, as the trial court's ruling did not depend on it. The court relied upon a host of other safety and security provisions to support its findings, which separately show Defendants breached the CC&Rs. CP 475 ¶ 17-18. The CC&Rs require owners to comply with their lot leases, Ex. 11 § 13.6, and bar any "Activities Prohibited by Lease," including any activities "inconsistent with the Lease for such Lot," *id.* at Ex. C § 2(g).

Those lot leases require owners to comply with county security regulations and ensure all guests gaining access to the restricted area have the required identification. Exs. 5-7 § 8.07; CP 470-71 ¶ 2. Security rules likewise prohibit unfettered access to the restricted areas and require tenants to escort guests on the airside. Exs. 232, 101. Defendants, however, ignored all these security requirements (just as they do now during appeal) and the vast majority of their safety violations also violate these other provisions (and therefore the CC&Rs). CP 475-77 ¶¶ 17-26; CP 468-69 ¶¶ 55-62.

2. Defendants Breached the Safety and Security Requirements Imposed by the CC&Rs.

Defendants concede that if the CC&Rs prohibit conduct that threatens the safety and security of Everett Hangar personnel and property, they violated that prohibition. Yet even if they did challenge the court's finding in this regard, the overwhelming evidence supports its ruling.

The evidence showed that Defendants: (1) routinely give guests unsupervised access to the restricted area, on all three lots, without ensuring proper identification; (2) illegally and repeatedly prop open the gate that secures Lot 13, in violation of airport security regulations; and (3) place vehicles and fencing in unsafe locations for Everett Hangar's flight operations. CP 468-69 ¶¶ 55-62; CP 475-76 ¶¶ 16-26; RP 213-23, 380-87, Exs. 41, 58-59, 71, 76-78, 85. The trial court found these activities "pose a clear and present security risk to Paine Field and its tenants, including, most immediately, the Plaintiff." CP 477 ¶ 25. It thus found "[o]verwhelming evidence supports the Plaintiff's claims that the

Defendants breached the CC&Rs with regard to the requirements related to safety and security." CP 475 ¶ 19. The court noted Defendants, for the most part, "did not address any of the numerous examples of security [breaches]" during their events, CP 476 ¶ 23. They argued at trial (like here) that they owe no safety or security duties at all. They are wrong, and the trial court's findings of safety and security breaches have overwhelming support in the record.²²

Defendants raise a separate challenge to the trial court's ruling on Count III. Br. 42-43. As the court's findings show, though, Counts II and III overlap and assert the same safety and security violations against the different entities controlling Lots 11 and 13. CP 474-78. The court found *all* Defendant entities breached the safety and security rules under the CC&Rs, which govern *all lots*, rendering Defendants effort to nit-pick distinctions between Counts II and III meaningless. And despite their unsupported claim, the Association is "the primary entity responsible for the enforcement of [the CC&Rs]," and must enforce the CC&Rs for the mutual benefit of all owners, not just Mr. Sessions. Ex. 11 § 3.1; *id.* at 2.

²² Defendants challenge the trial court's decision to exclude certain museum forms and policies as hearsay. Br. 9 n.7. But they offered these for their truth (contending they describe how the museum operates), so they are hearsay. ER 801; RP 851. The only issue was whether they satisfied the business records exception. ER 803(a)(6). The trial court admitted one exhibit under this exception (Ex. 269), but rejected the rest. RP 857. The court correctly rejected these exhibits (Exs. 264-68, 270) for insufficient reliability because many documents were undated, others were created *after* the suit was filed, and Mr. Sessions did not draft any of the materials, and could not even testify as to who drafted them, or when they were created. RP 849-58. In any event, these materials have no bearing on the court's findings of safety and security breaches, making Defendants' challenge irrelevant. *See Veit ex rel. Nelson v. Burlington N. Santa Fe. Corp.*, 171 Wn.2d 88, 99, 249 P.3d 607 (2011) (evidentiary decisions reviewed for harmless error).

C. The Trial Court Did Not Abuse Its Considerable Discretion to Fashion Appropriate Equitable Relief.

After two weeks of trial and weighing all the evidence, the trial court imposed injunctive relief narrowly tailored to prevent Defendants' continuing violations of the easement and safety and security provisions in the CC&Rs. The record demonstrates the reasonability of these measures, particularly given the broad deference owed to the trial court in equity.

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